IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DR. GREGORY L. STRAND,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC06-1894 L.T. Case No. 2006-CA-881

ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellee.	
	/

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT DR. GREGORY L. STRAND

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case involves an appeal from a Final Judgment of the First Judicial Circuit Court validating revenue bonds to be issued by Escambia County in an amount not to exceed \$135,000,000.00, and funded through the utilization of tax increment financing. (App., Ex. 14). The subject revenue bonds, however, were not subject to a referendum as required by Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution, nor were they proposed in accordance with the Community Redevelopment Act, Chapter 163, Part III, *Florida Statutes*, which authorizes the use of tax increment financing for the redevelopment of "blighted" or "slum" areas without a referendum. Thus, this Court should reverse the \$135,000,000.00 bond issuance.

A. Factual Background

On or about May 4, 2006, the County adopted Ordinance 2006-38, which authorizes tax increment financing to fund certain capital and infrastructure improvements on Perdido Key, a barrier island/peninsula located in Southwest Escambia County ("TIF Ordinance").¹ (App., Ex. 3). The TIF Ordinance purports

Tax increment financing is a method of financing authorized by Florida's "Community Redevelopment Act of 1969," Chapter 163, Part III, *Florida Statutes*, to redevelop "blighted" or "slum" areas, subject to the requirements therein. *See* §§ 163.385-.387, Fla. Stat. (2005). Tax increment financing is based on the premise that a portion of the increased ad valorem taxes generated as a

to: (1) establish the Southwest Escambia Improvement District; (2) establish the Southwest Escambia Improvement Trust Fund; and (3) authorize tax increment financing to fund the Southwest Escambia Improvement Trust Fund. (*Id.*). The purported purpose of the TIF Ordinance is to establish a financing mechanism to fund infrastructure improvements on Perdido Key. In conjunction with the adoption of the TIF Ordinance, the County adopted Resolution No. R2006-96, authorizing the County to issue bonds not exceeding \$135,000,000.00 for the Southwest Escambia Improvement District ("Bond Resolution"). (App., Ex. 4).

On May 16, 2006, the County filed a "Complaint for Validation" with the First Judicial Circuit Court, pursuant to Chapter 75, *Florida Statutes*, seeking validation of the bond issuance. (App., Ex. 5). In filing its Complaint for Validation, the County also submitted a proposed Final Judgment validating the revenue bonds. (App., Ex. 6). On May 19, 2006, the Circuit Court issued an "Amended Order to Show Cause" setting the matter for hearing on June 30, 2006, at 8:00 a.m. (CST). (App., Ex. 7).

On June 22, 2006, the State Attorney filed its Answer to the County's Complaint for Validation. (App., Ex. 8). The State Attorney's Answer was

result of improvements to such property should be available to pay for the improvements. *See generally* David E. Cardwell and Harold R. Bucholtz, *Tax-Exempt Redevelopment Financing in Florida*, 20 Stet. L. Rev. 667, 667-80 (1991).

apparently prepared by the County's bond counsel, as reflected by the document identification number on the face of the State Attorney's Answer.² (*Id.*).

On June 29, 2006, Dr. Strand filed a "Motion to Intervene as a Full Party Defendant" ("Motion to Intervene") pursuant to Section 75.07, *Florida Statutes*.³ (App., Ex. 9). In so doing, Dr. Strand adopted by reference a portion of the State Attorney's Answer as grounds for invalidating the proposed bond issue. (*Id.* at ¶ 5). Dr. Strand further asserted that the financing scheme purportedly authorized by the TIF Ordinance and the Bond Resolution constituted an indirect pledging of ad valorem tax revenue without a referendum of the electorate, in violation of Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution. (*Id.* at ¶ 6).

In addition to filing his Motion to Intervene, Dr. Strand filed a separate "Motion for a Thirty (30) Day Continuance of Final Hearing" ("Motion for Continuance") on June 29, 2006. (App., Ex. 10). Dr. Strand's Motion for Continuance stated in pertinent part:

The County's Complaint and the State Attorney's Answer contain the same document identification number in each document's footer. Most notably, the initials "MCSP" are denoted on both documents, which presumably stand for "Miller, Canfield, Paddock and Stone," *i.e.*, the County's bond counsel. (*Compare* App. Ex. 5 and Ex. 8).

Section 75.07, *Florida Statutes*, provides, in part, that "[a]ny property owner, taxpayer, citizen or person interested may become a party to the action by moving against or pleading to the complaint at or before the time set for hearing."

3. The undersigned counsel first learned of the bond validation hearing in this matter on Tuesday, June 27, 2006. The undersigned counsel promptly informed Intervenor Dr. Gregory L. Strand ("Dr. Strand") of such proceeding on Wednesday, June 28, 2006. Upon learning such information, Dr. Strand immediately authorized the undersigned counsel on June 28, 2006, to file a motion to intervene and represent his interests on his behalf in this proceeding.

* * *

- 5. Due to the brief time in which the undersigned counsel has to prepare for the June 30 final hearing, counsel will be unable to properly investigate, prepare for, and assert all of Dr. Strand's objections to the bond issue, Ordinance No. 2006-38, and Ordinance No. R2006-96, including factual issues of notice, and legal issues such as whether the County has the legal authority to adopt such a bond, which are at issue in this proceeding.
- 6. Dr. Strand submits that a thirty (30) day continuance of the June 30 final hearing will not prejudice any party in this proceeding and will further judicial economy by ensuring that all arguments regarding the 135 million dollar bond validation at issue may be properly presented to the Court. . . .

(*Id.* at ¶¶ 3, 5-6). The County filed an objection to Dr. Strand's Motion for Continuance on June 30, 2006. (App., Ex. 11).

B. Bond Validation Hearing

On Friday, June 30, 2006, the Circuit Court conducted a hearing on the County's Complaint for Validation. (App., Ex. 2). At the beginning of the

hearing, the Circuit Court granted Dr. Strand's Motion to Intervene, noting that "the statute says it shall be permitted, so I'll permit the intervention." (*Id.* at 8). The Circuit Court, however, refused to grant Dr. Strand's Motion for Continuance. (*Id.* at 4-9).

During the bond validation hearing, the County presented two (2) witnesses, Jean Kassab, Director of Administrative Services for Escambia County, and Alex Bugallo, an advisor with a financial consulting firm retained by Escambia County. (*Id.* at 13). Ms. Kassab offered testimony regarding the TIF Ordinance and the Bond Resolution, as well as the improvements anticipated to be funded by the revenue bonds. (*Id.* at 14-23). Mr. Bugallo offered testimony regarding the sale and repayment of the revenue bonds, and the anticipated rating of the revenue bonds. (*Id.* at 24-28).

Thereafter, Dr. Strand briefly testified to establish his legal standing to intervene in the bond validation proceeding pursuant to Section 75.07, *Florida Statutes*. (*Id*. at 31). In so doing, Dr. Strand testified that he is a property owner and taxpayer within Escambia County. (*Id*.).

At the conclusion of the June 30 hearing, the Circuit Court allotted each of the parties five (5) minutes to briefly outline their respective positions regarding the legality of the proposed revenue bonds. (*Id.* at 43). Following the brief oral

argument of counsel for the County and Dr. Strand, the Circuit Court indicated that it would provide the parties until Wednesday, July 5, 2006, *i.e.*, one (1) business day after the hearing and the holiday weekend, to submit any written argument and proposed findings. (*Id.* at 44). In so doing, the Circuit Court advised the parties that it intended to rule by Friday, July 7, 2006. (*Id*).

On July 5, 2006, the County and Dr. Strand each filed post-hearing memoranda of law. (*See* App., Ex. 12 and Ex. 13). The State Attorney, however, did not submit any post-hearing memorandum.

C. Final Judgment Validating Bond Issuance

On August 18, 2006, forty-nine (49) days after the June 30 hearing, the Circuit Court entered a Final Judgment validating the bond issuance. (App., Ex. 1). The Circuit Court's August 18 Final Judgment reads verbatim to the proposed Final Judgment submitted by the County's bond counsel with its Complaint for Validation, except for Paragraphs 35 and 36. (*Compare* App., Ex. 1 and Ex. 6). Paragraphs 35 and 36, which discuss Dr. Strand's Motion to Intervene and Motion for Continuance, read verbatim to requested modifications set forth in the County's "Post-Hearing Memorandum." (App., Ex. 12 at 9-10).

In validating the bond issuance, the Circuit Court concluded that the County was not required to comply with the requirements of the Community

Redevelopment Act, Chapter 163, Part III, *Florida Statutes*, to utilize tax increment financing for the revenue bonds. (App., Ex. 1 at ¶ 13). In addition, the Circuit Court concluded that the revenue bonds did not need to be approved by referendum pursuant to Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution. (*Id.* at \P ¶ 16, 20).

On September 15, 2006, Dr. Strand timely filed a Notice of Appeal for review in this Court. (App., Ex. 14).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Dr. Strand respectfully submits that the Circuit Court erred in validating the \$135,000,000.00 bond issuance. In particular, Dr. Strand asserts that: (1) the Circuit Court abused its discretion in denying Dr. Strand's request for a continuance of the bond validation hearing; (2) the Circuit Court's findings are not supported by competent substantial evidence in the record; and (3) the Circuit Court erred in concluding that the County had the authority to issue the bonds.

First, the record demonstrates that the Circuit Court's refusal to grant Dr. Strand's request for a continuance substantially prejudiced Dr. Strand. Indeed, by refusing to grant a brief continuance of the bond validation hearing, the Circuit Court deprived Dr. Strand of his right to present evidence regarding the numerous factual issues raised by the County, as well as the opportunity to conduct meaningful cross-examination of the County's witnesses during the hearing. Further, there is no evidence in the record to suggest that the County would have suffered any prejudice had the Circuit Court granted Dr. Strand's request for a continuance.

Second, the Circuit Court in the instant case adopted verbatim the proposed Final Judgment submitted by the County prior to the bond validation hearing and Dr. Strand's intervention. As a result, the Final Judgment contains findings that

are not supported by competent substantial evidence in the record before the Circuit Court, as required by law. In addition, the Circuit Court's wholesale adoption of the proposed Final Judgment submitted by the County prior to the bond validation hearing reflects that the Circuit Court did not perform an independent analysis of the facts, issues, and law in this matter.

Third, the Circuit Court erred in concluding that the County had the authority to issue the proposed revenue bonds without a referendum pursuant to Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution, or compliance with the requirements of the Community Redevelopment Act, Chapter 163, Part III, Florida Pursuant to Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution, a Statutes. referendum is required to issue bonds that (a) mature more than twelve (12) months after issuance; and (b) are payable from ad valorem taxation. It is undisputed that the revenue bonds at issue in this proceeding (a) mature more than twelve (12) months after issuance; and (b) are payable, in part, from ad valorem taxation. Although the County purportedly disclaims its ad valorem taxing powers as security for the bond issue, the Final Judgment allows for the repayment and service of the proposed revenue bonds from all available revenues, including ad valorem property tax receipts. Further, while the County seeks to utilize the tax increment financing mechanism authorized by the Community Redevelopment Act, it is undisputed that the County has not complied with the statutory requirements set forth therein, including, but not limited to, the requirement that the County make a finding, supported by data and analysis, that the area to be redeveloped, *i.e.*, Perdido Key, is a "slum" or "blighted" area.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the Circuit Court's August 18 Final Judgment validating the \$135,000,000.00 bond issuance.

BASIS OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(2) of the Florida Constitution, Section 75.08, *Florida Statutes* (2005), and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(1)(B)(i).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a bond validation proceeding, this Court has stated that "courts should: (1) determine if a public body has the authority to issue the subject bonds; (2) determine if the purpose of the obligation is legal; and (3) ensure that the authorization of the obligation complies with the requirements of law." *State v. City of Port Orange*, 650 So. 2d 1, 2 (Fla. 1994). This Court reviews the trial court's findings of fact in a bond validation proceeding for competent substantial evidence. *See City of Gainesville v. State*, 863 So. 2d 138, 142 (Fla. 2003). The Court reviews the trial court's conclusions of law de novo. *Id*.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR A CONTINUANCE

As previously discussed, Dr. Strand filed a motion with the Circuit Court requesting a thirty (30) day continuance of the bond validation hearing scheduled for June 30, 2006. (App., Ex. 10). In so doing, Dr. Strand advised the Circuit Court that he and his counsel had first learned of the bond validation hearing only a couple of days before the hearing, and, in light thereof, Dr. Strand's counsel would be unable to properly investigate, prepare for, and assert all of Dr. Strand's objections to the proposed bond issuance. (*Id.*). Notwithstanding such facts, the Circuit Court refused to grant Dr. Strand's request for a continuance. (App., Ex. 2). The Circuit Court's refusal to grant a continuance was an abuse of discretion.

Although a trial court is endowed with broad discretion in deciding whether to grant or deny a motion for continuance, the exercise of such discretion is not absolute. Florida courts have long recognized that "[s]pecial circumstances . . . may require a continuance where there has not been sufficient time to complete discovery and prepare for trial and where the continuance causes no substantial prejudice or injustice to the opposing party." *Carpenter v. Carpenter*, 451 So. 2d

914, 916 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Factors to be considered in determining whether a trial court abused its discretion in denying a motion for continuance include:

[1] whether the denial of the continuance creates an injustice for the movant; [2] whether the cause of the request for continuance was unforeseeable by the movant and not the result of dilatory practices; and [3] whether the opposing party would suffer any prejudice or inconvenience as a result of a continuance.

Fleming v. Fleming, 710 So. 2d 601, 603 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998).

As noted above, the Circuit Court's refusal to grant Dr. Strand's request for a brief continuance precluded Dr. Strand's counsel from being able to properly investigate, prepare for, and assert all of Dr. Strand's objections to the proposed bond issuance. Moreover, by failing to grant a brief continuance, the Circuit Court deprived Dr. Strand of his right to present evidence regarding the numerous factual issues raised by the County, as well as the opportunity to conduct meaningful cross-examination of the County's witnesses. Thus, the record demonstrates that the Circuit Court's refusal to grant a continuance created an injustice for Dr. Strand. See Carpenter, 451 So. 2d at 916; see also Lipford v. Harris, 212 So. 2d 766, 768 (Fla. 1968) (reiterating that "a validation decree once it becomes final puts at rest all questions which were raised in the validation as well as all questions which could have been raised"); § 75.09, Fla. Stat. (2005) (setting forth conclusive effect of a final judgment validating a bond issuance).

The record further demonstrates that Dr. Strand's request for a continuance was not the result of dilatory practices. To the contrary, Dr. Strand's counsel first learned of the June 30 bond validation hearing on June 27. (App., Ex. 10 at ¶ 3). Upon learning of the bond validation hearing, counsel notified Dr. Strand on June 28 of such proceeding, and Dr. Strand immediately authorized counsel to file a motion to intervene and represent his interests during the bond validation proceeding. (Id., App., Ex. 2 at 5). In so doing, counsel promptly requested a continuance on behalf of Dr. Strand to allow counsel sufficient time to investigate, prepare for, and represent Dr. Strand's interests during the proceeding. Cf. Peiman v. Peiman, 829 So. 2d 307, 309-10 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002) (holding trial court abused its discretion in denying request for continuance filed on eve of final hearing where appellant had been attempting to retain counsel); Kamhi v. Waterview Towers Condo. Ass'n, Inc., 793 So. 2d 1033, 1037 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) (reversing denial of motion for three-month continuance to obtain new counsel where request was not an attempt to unduly delay or prejudice appellee's case).

Lastly, there is no evidence in the record to demonstrate that the County would have suffered any prejudice had the Circuit Court granted Dr. Strand's request for a thirty (30) day continuance. Indeed, the Circuit Court did not even

enter its Final Judgment validating the proposed bond issuance until August 18, 2006, which was forty-nine (49) days after the June 30 hearing.

In sum, the Circuit Court abused its discretion in refusing to grant Dr. Strand's request for a continuance. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the Circuit Court's Final Judgment and remand for further proceedings during which Dr. Strand will be afforded a full opportunity to present evidence regarding the numerous factual issues raised by the County, as well as the opportunity to conduct meaningful cross-examination of the County's witnesses.

II.

THE CIRCUIT COURT'S FINDINGS ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE

It is well settled that a trial court's factual findings in a bond validation proceeding must be supported by competent substantial evidence. *See City of Gainesville v. State*, 863 So. 2d 138, 142 (Fla. 2003). Competent substantial evidence is that which is "sufficiently relevant and material that a reasonable mind would accept it as adequate to support the conclusion reached." *De Groot v. Sheffield*, 95 So. 2d 912, 916 (Fla. 1957). A review of the record in the instant case establishes that the Circuit Court's factual findings are not supported by competent substantial evidence.

As an initial matter, it must be emphasized that the Circuit Court's Final Judgment reads essentially *verbatim* to the proposed Final Judgment submitted by the County's bond counsel *prior* to the bond validation hearing and Dr. Strand's intervention.⁴ (*Compare* App., Ex. 1 and Ex. 6). This Court has previously criticized the wholesale adoption by trial courts of proposed final judgments submitted by one party, stating:

[Proposed judgments] cannot substitute for a thoughtful and independent analysis of the facts, issues, and law by the trial judge. When the trial judge accepts verbatim a proposed final judgment submitted by one party without an opportunity for comments or objections by the other party, there is an appearance that the trial judge did not exercise his or her independent judgment in the case. This is especially true when the judge has made no findings or conclusions on the record that would form the basis for the party's proposed final judgment. This type of proceeding is fair to neither the parties involved in a particular case nor our judicial system.

Perlow v. Berg-Perlow, 875 So. 2d 383, 390 (Fla. 2004).

Although *Perlow* involved a divorce proceeding, this Court's pronouncement therein is equally applicable to the instant case, where the Circuit Court adopted *verbatim* the proposed Final Judgment submitted by the County's

As noted in the Statement of Facts, Paragraphs 35 and 36 of the Final Judgment, which discuss Dr. Strand's Motion to Intervene and Motion for Continuance, read <u>verbatim</u> to requested modifications set forth in the County's "Post-Hearing Memorandum." (App., Ex. 12 at 9-10).

bond counsel <u>prior</u> to the bond validation hearing. Indeed, the fact that the County submitted the proposed Final Judgment <u>prior</u> to the bond validation hearing refutes any suggestion that the proposed Final Judgment was premised upon findings and conclusions made by the Circuit Court on the record.

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