**IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT
CASE NO. SC06-1894**

Bond Validation Appeal From a Final Judgment
of the Circuit Court of the First Judicial Circuit,
in and for Escambia County, Florida

DR. GREGORY L. STRAND,

Appellant,

v.

ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA,

a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

MILLER, CANFIELD, PADDOCK AND STONE, P.L.C

Patricia D. Lott (FBN 243744)

25 West Cedar Street #500

Pensacola, Florida 32502

850/469-1088

Counsel for Escambia County, Florida

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

TIF Ordinance was considered and adopted (COUNTY AP Ex. 3; STRAND AP Ex. 2, p. 17). Prior to that public hearing, on March 9, 2006, the Board of County Commissioners considered the plan of finance at a workshop meeting, which, like all meetings of the Board of County Commissioners, was required to be duly noticed and open to the public. (STRAND AP Ex. 2, p. 16) Appellant asserts that he did not find out about the validation hearing until a few days before the scheduled date; however, it is clear that this was not the fault of the County. Further, the record shows that Appellant advised the trial court that he desired the continuance in order to prepare legal arguments. Appellant was given the opportunity to present and brief his legal arguments prior to entry of the Validation Judgment and therefore was not prejudiced by the trial court's decision to deny his motion for a continuance. Appellant has failed to show a "clear and compelling" reason that would have justified a continuance of the validation hearing. Accordingly, on the basis of *Turnpike Authority* and *Rianhard, supra*, the trial court's denial of a request for continuance in the present case was well within its discretion and provides no basis for this Court to overturn the Validation Judgment.

2. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S FINDINGS ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

Appellant's arguments on this question are two-fold: the first having to do with the use by the trial court of a form of final judgment prepared by

Appellee's counsel, and the second questioning the existence of substantial competent evidence for the Validation Judgment. The record below refutes each of these challenges.

Appellant cites a divorce case, *Perlow v. Berg-Perlow*, 875 So. 2d 383, 390 (Fla. 2004) as support for his contention that the Validation Judgment must be reversed because “the Judgment reads essentially **verbatim** to the proposed Final Judgment” submitted by the County’s counsel. In *Perlow*, the trial court’s judgment was reversed because the wife’s counsel was permitted to submit a form of judgment adopted by the trial judge, while the husband’s counsel (1) was not given opportunity to object to the wife’s form of judgment and (2) was not given opportunity to submit his own form of judgment. The *Perlow* decision also emphasized that the trial court signed the wife’s form of judgment within two hours after the closing arguments (*Id.*, at 386), and therefore raised the *appearance* that the trial judge could not have had time to thoughtfully consider the issues before it:

the trial judge did not permit the husband an opportunity to submit his own proposed final judgment or to object to the wife’s proposed final judgment. Furthermore, because the final judgment (twenty-five pages in length with six additional pages of financial exhibits incorporated by reference) was submitted by the wife’s counsel and adopted verbatim without any additions, changes or deletions so quickly thereafter (i.e., with two hours of its submission) without the trial judge having

indicated on the record any findings of fact or conclusions of law, there was an appearance that the trial judge did not independently make factual findings and legal conclusions, i.e., an *appearance of impropriety* ...” (emphasis added)

Id., at 389.

There are no comparable circumstances in the present case. During the validation hearing, Appellant’s counsel was furnished with a copy of the County’s proposed form of judgment. (STRAND AP Ex. 2, p. 46) After closing arguments at the hearing, the trial court gave the parties five days to submit additional arguments and supporting memoranda. In its submission, Appellant’s counsel included his own form of final judgment in addition to his argument (STRAND AP Ex. 13), and presumably had read, researched and objected to any provision in the County’s form of judgment. After the Appellant submitted his additional argument and his own form of judgment, another forty-four days elapsed before the trial court entered the Validation Judgment. Thus the present case, unlike *Perlow*, in no way gave an appearance of impropriety for the court not having sufficiently considered the judgment. On the contrary, the trial court took over six weeks (as compared to two hours in *Perlow*) to consider the issues before entering the Validation Judgment. It should be noted that the *Perlow* court specifically approved the common practice of having each party prepare and submit proposed findings and conclusions. *Id.*

It should also be noted that in *Hillier v. City of Plantation*, 935 So. 2d 105, 106 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), the District Court applied the *Perlow* case to the facts before it and specifically found that it is not error for the trial court to adopt verbatim the proposed order of one party if the other party is given opportunity to review and object to the proposed order. In this case, Appellant's counsel was given opportunity to review and object to the proposed judgment submitted by the County, and the entry of the Validation Judgment by the trial court in substantially the form proposed by the County was not error.

As to Appellant's argument that there was no substantial competent evidence to support the trial court's Validation Judgment, the County would simply point out this Court's longstanding position that the introduction of the Bond Resolution alone at the validation hearing is sufficient to support validation. For example, in *Rianhard v. Port of Palm Beach District*, 186 So. 2d 503 (Fla. 1966) this Court stated:

We think the introduction of the supporting resolution in evidence is all that was necessary to justify validation. In *State of Florida v. Manatee County Port Authority*, Fla. App. 171 So. 2d 169, we approved as sufficient evidence to justify validation of revenue certificates similar to those in this case only the introduction of the supporting resolution covering that issue.

Id., at 505.

The Rianhard decision is dispositive of Appellant's challenge based upon insufficient competent evidence, because the Bond Resolution as well as the TIF Ordinance were introduced, without objection at the validation hearing. Nevertheless, in his effort to show a lack of substantial competent evidence for the validation, Appellant points to specific cases under Chapter 163, Part III, Fla. Stat. (2005) (the "Redevelopment Act") where evidentiary matters were in dispute. The cases relied upon by Appellant are inapposite here, not only because Appellant did not dispute any evidentiary matters in the case below², but also because the County did not merely introduce the Bond Resolution as its only evidence at the validation hearing.

On page 17 of his Initial Brief, Appellant claims:

Although legislative determinations are entitled to deference, such deference does not negate the requirement that such determinations be supported by competent substantial evidence. See *Panama City Beach Cmty. (sic) Redevelopment Agency v. State*, 831 So. 2d 662, 667 (Fla. 2002).

² Appellee would point out that in *Rianhard*, all of the questions presented by either counsel related to questions of law, not questions of fact. *Rianhard*, at 504. Similarly, the record below demonstrates that Appellant made no effort to present any evidence of a dispute of factual matters. After the County presented its case to the trial court at the validation hearing, Appellant was asked by the trial judge whether he wished to present any evidence. Appellant's counsel stated, "No sir ... our arguments are primarily legal in nature and we would somehow like to brief the Court." (STRAND AP Ex. 2, p. 33) Thereafter, Appellant was given 5 days to brief the Court and did, in fact, timely file a post-hearing brief. (STRAND AP Ex. 13)

In the instant case, the record is devoid of any direct testimony of other documentary evidence to support the Circuit Court's findings regarding the alleged legislative determinations.

Such assertion by Appellant could not be more incorrect. In the present case, as the Bond Resolution and TIF Ordinance were being introduced, the County's Director of Administrative Services, Jean Kassab, testified that she was responsible for developing the financing plan, including the recommendation that the County authorize the issuance of the Bonds. (STRAND AP Ex. 2, p. 15) Ms. Kassab explained that the public purpose to be served by the project being financed with the Bonds was to widen various transportation corridors to improve economic development and alleviate traffic congestion. (STRAND AP Ex. 2, p. 15) She further testified that, prior to adoption of the Bond Resolution and the Tax-Increment Ordinance, the Board of County Commissioners held a workshop meeting where she presented the project and explained the financing plan, including the tax increment plan. She then recommended the project and the tax increment financing to the Board of County Commissioners. (STRAND AP Ex. 2, p. 16) On cross examination by the State Attorney, Ms. Kassab testified that it was anticipated that the tax increment would only apply to capture increased revenues within the benefited area, including Perdido Key Drive, the new

bridge, Sorrento Road to Gulf Beach to Blue Angel Parkway, to pay for the four-lane widening project. (STRAND AP Ex. 2, p. 22).

Even though the Bond Resolution and Tax Increment Ordinance alone are sufficient to support the trial court's Validation Judgment, the record here further shows that the findings of the Board of County Commissioners were made only after a workshop meeting was conducted to consider the traffic and economic development needs of the tax increment district (STRAND AP Ex. 2, p. 16), and only after the County's Director of Administrative Services had explained the project, the financing mechanism and the tax increment plan, and affirmatively recommended that the County Commission adopt the TIF Ordinance and Bond Resolution. Accordingly, there was more than sufficient competent and substantial evidence to support the findings of the Board of County Commissioners in the Tax Increment Ordinance and Bond Resolution, and the findings of the trial court below in validating the Bonds.

Addressing the matter raised by Appellant in Part II of his Initial Brief, concerning the requirement for evidence to support the findings of the County Commission, Appellee would point out that the very case relied upon by Appellant for such point, the *Panama City Beach Community Redevelopment Agency* case, *supra*, recognizes that legislative findings of

the County Commission are to be given deference. Under any circumstances, it was Appellant's burden to produce some evidence to overcome the presumption of correctness of the legislative findings. Appellant presented no evidence (nor proffer of evidence nor request to present evidence), did not testify on the subject, and did not cross-examine the County's witnesses who provided the additional support for the legislative findings.

Appellant also argues that the sufficiency of the evidence is contrary to the requirements for redevelopment districts under the Redevelopment Act. Appellee will address that question in Part III of this Answer Brief as part of its showing that said statute is inapplicable to the present case.

Appellant's brief fails to demonstrate any basis for overturning the Validation Judgment due to lack of competent substantial evidence to support the findings. In fact, the record affirmatively demonstrates that the County's evidence was more than sufficient to support the findings, and that Appellant produced no contrary evidence and made no attempt at the hearing to challenge such findings.

3. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT THE COUNTY HAD THE LEGAL AUTHORITY TO ISSUE THE BONDS.

This Section 3 will address the following arguments contained in Section III of Appellant’s Initial Brief: (A) the Bonds are invalid because the County has not followed the procedures for creation of a community development district under the Redevelopment Act; (B) the decision in *State v. Miami Beach Redevelopment Agency*, 392 So. 2d 875 (Fla. 1981), to the effect that tax-increment financing does not pledge the taxing power of the issuing entity, is inapplicable here because the Bonds are not for redevelopment but instead will finance road and transportation improvements, (C) the authority of *Penn v. Florida Defense Finance and Accounting Service Center Authority*, 623 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1993) (“*Penn*”) is distinguishable from the present case because in *Penn*, the bond issuing entity did not have taxing power; (D) the Bonds are not authorized because the judgment below stated that the County was permitted to use ad valorem revenues to repay the Bonds; and (E) the back-up commitment to repay the Bonds from non ad valorem sources (the “Covenant to Budget and Appropriate”) amounts to an indirect pledge of the County’s taxing power, which has not been approved by referendum.

(A). The County Is Not Required To Comply with the Community Redevelopment Act In Order To Issue Tax Increment Bonds.

Appellant complains that the County has not complied with the state statutory scheme for tax increment financing for redevelopment of slum and blighted areas. This argument ignores the fact that the Bonds are not being issued for redevelopment, and therefore the statutory requirements suggested by Appellant are irrelevant. The financing plan contemplated by the County's TIF Ordinance is similar in structure to the financing method authorized in the Redevelopment Act. Both methods contemplate that bond-financed improvements will result in increased property values, and that the additional ad valorem taxes which result from the increased tax assessments will offset the costs of the bond financing. The County's TIF Ordinance and the Redevelopment Act both provide that deposits equal to the increased ad valorem taxes will be paid into a local trust fund, to be pledged for repayment of bonds to be used to finance improvements within a specific area. But that is where the similarity ends.

The CRA Act contemplates the creation of a redevelopment district, based upon slum and blight criteria and procedures. These criteria and procedures are not pertinent to the Southwest Escambia Improvement District created under the TIF Ordinance, because the Bonds are not issued

for redevelopment purposes. The County has chosen to exercise its power to acquire right-of-way, build and widen roads and thereby protect the public health, safety and welfare and promote economic development. The more important distinction, however, is that the Redevelopment Act allows a Community Redevelopment Agency to redirect the ad valorem taxes *of other governmental taxing units* into the Redevelopment Trust Fund without their permission or consent. See § 163.387(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (2005). Here, Escambia County is not exercising any redevelopment powers under the Redevelopment Act, and *is not diverting any revenues of other taxing authorities* into the County's Trust Fund.³ Because the County is not using the privileges granted under the Redevelopment Act, the requirements of the Redevelopment Act are not applicable to the tax-increment method of finance employed for repayment of the Bonds herein.

The seminal case interpreting County financing powers under the 1968 Constitution is *State v. Orange County*, 281 So. 2d 310, 311 (Fla. 1973). In that case, this Court expressly recognized that Florida counties

³ The Southwest Escambia Improvement District created by the TIF Ordinance includes only unincorporated areas of the County. In addition, the plain language of the TIF Ordinance requires only the County to deposit revenues into the trust fund in an amount equal to the tax increment. All of the moneys to be deposited to the trust fund are to come from County revenues.

may empower themselves to implement financing plans by ordinance alone, so long as the ordinance is not inconsistent with general or special law:

Section 1(f) of Article VIII authorizes Orange County, a non-charter county, pursuant to enabling statutes to enact a county ordinance (in lieu of securing a special act to that effect) authorizing such revenue bond issue. F.S. Section 125.01(1), (c), (r), (t), F.S.A., empowers noncharter counties in several self-government respects and clearly authorizes adoption of the bond ordinance herein. Thus, there is no preclusion; instead, there is ample authority for the bond ordinance. Since F.S. Section 125.01(1)(r) F.S.A. delegated to Orange County the specific power to issue bonds and revenue certificates, it had the power to adopt its implementing ordinance in this instance.

Id. at 311.

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